91026-0

FILED
NOV 20 2014

No. 70604-7-1

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
CRB

In the Court of Appeals
State of Washington
Division One

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
NOV 20 2014

Towne Owners Association, Plaintiff,

v.

Brian D. Beckmann, et al., Defendants.

DCR Services, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

The Condo Group, LLC, et al., Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

Appeal from King County Superior Court
The Honorable Monica Benton, Case No. 11-2-08939-8 SEA

Petition for Review

Rodney T. Harmon
P.O. Box 1066
Bothell, WA 98041
(425) 402-7800
rodharmon@msn.com

Attorney for Glacier Real Estate
Investments, LLC, successor in

I. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is Glacier Real Estate Investments, LLC ("Glacier"), which succeeded to the interests of DCR Services, LLC ("DCR") in the subject matter of this case. On September 30, 2014, DCR filed a motion in the Court of Appeals for substitution of Glacier for DCR. Appendix B. DCR has assigned to Glacier its promissory note and deed of trust encumbering the foreclosed property. *Id.* DCR has also deeded to Glacier its fee interest in the foreclosed property. *Id.* The motion is pending resolution. This petition is filed under the authority of RAP 3.2(d)(4).

II. Court of Appeals Decision.

Glacier seeks review of the decision of Division I of the Court of Appeals in *Towne Owners Assn. v. Beckman*, Court of Appeals Case No. 70604-7-I filed on September 2, 2014. DCR Services, LLC and The Condo Group, LLC were third parties in that case. No motion for reconsideration was filed. The Court of Appeals' decision is reproduced in Appendix A.

III. Issues Presented for Review.

This case is a dispute between the purchaser at a condominium lien foreclosure sale and a party who sought to redeem the property.

1. During the redemption period following a sheriff's auction of real property, does the judgment debtor retain an interest to which a lien can attach?

2. Does the term "redemption" under RCW 6.23.010 (1)(b) include a creditor whose lien attached after the sheriff's auction but during the redemption period?
3. Did DCR Services successfully redeem the property?

The Court of Appeals answered these questions in the negative, solely on the basis of the recent case of *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn.2d 754, 328 P.3d 895 (2014) in which it perceived the Supreme Court to have held that the only creditors who may redeem are those whose liens attached to the foreclosed property *before* the sheriff's auction. This petition asks whether the Court intended such an application of its holding, which would resurrect the repudiated case of *Hardy v. Herriott*, 11 Wash. 460, 39 P. 958 (1895).

IV. Statement of the Case.

On March 7, 2011, the Towne Owners Association commenced the foreclosure action against the owner of Unit 38,¹ Brian Beckmann. (CP 1-4). The superior court entered a default judgment against Beckmann and his lender. (CP 18). On June 1, 2011, the court clerk issued an order of sale, commanding the sheriff to seize and sell the Property. (CP 41). The order provided for a one year redemption period. (CP 20). On August 5, 2011, the sheriff sold the property and The Condo Group was the high bidder at

¹ The address of the property is 3058 128th Ave SE #38, Bellevue, WA.

the sale for \$6,200. (CP 46). On September 21, 2011, the superior court confirmed the sale. (CP 45).

Eight months after the sheriff's auction, on April 18, 2012, DCR loaned Beckmann \$2,500, and Beckmann granted DCR a deed of trust against the property to secure repayment of the loan. (CP 176, 400). On April 19, 2012, for an additional \$2500, Beckmann conveyed his fee interest in the condominium unit to DCR by quit claim deed. (CP 174, 180). On June 7, 2012, DCR notified the King County Sheriff of its intent to redeem, providing a copy of its deed of trust, a declaration stating the amount due on the promissory note secured by the deed of trust, and a check for the sheriff's fee. (CP 252, 257). On June 14, 2012, DCR tendered \$6,840.04 to the sheriff (sheriff's sale price plus 12% interest). (CP 259).

The Condo Group objected to DCR's redemption (CP 254), so DCR filed a third-party complaint in the foreclosure action to obtain a declaration of the parties' rights. (CP 76) DCR and The Condo Group filed cross-motions for summary judgment, and on June 4, 2013, the superior court entered summary judgment for The Condo Group, ruling that DCR is not a redemptioner under Chapter 6.23. (CP 434). On July 2, 2013, DCR appealed to Division I of the Court of Appeals. (CP 438). On September 2, 2014, Division I filed its decision affirming the trial court. Appendix A. Division I based its decision entirely upon the Supreme Court's recent

decision in *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn.2d 754, 328 P.3d 895 (2014). Because it perceived it was merely applying the rule it believed was announced in that case, Division I chose not to publish its decision.

V. Argument.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision is grounded on a faulty understanding of *BAC Home Loans v. Fulbright*.

As in *Fulbright*, the statute applicable in this case is RCW 6.23.010,² which provides that property sold subject to redemption could be redeemed by a creditor with a lien that is subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold:

(1) Real property sold subject to redemption, as provided in RCW 6.21.080, or any part thereof separately sold, may be redeemed by the following persons, or their successors in interest:

(a) The judgment debtor, in the whole or any part of the property sold.

(b) A creditor having a lien by judgment, decree, deed of trust, or mortgage, on any portion of the property, or any portion of any part thereof, separately sold, subsequent in time to that on which the property was sold. The persons mentioned in this subsection are termed redemptioners.

(2) As used in this chapter, the terms "judgment debtor," "redemptioner," and "purchaser," refer also to their respective

² The statute was first enacted in 1873. Laws of 1873, ch. 33, §365, p. 101. It remains substantively unchanged from the date of its enactment. *Ford v. Nokomis State Bank*, 135 Wash. 37, 39-41, 237 P. 314 (1925); *BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn.2d 754, 328 P.3d 895 (2014).

successors in interest.

The Court of Appeals grounded its decision entirely on a faulty understanding of *BAC Home Loans v. Fulbright*. It reasoned that a post-auction lien is not extinguished by a foreclosure sale and therefore does not give rise to a statutory right of redemption:

DCR's interest was created nearly eight months after the foreclosure sale. Its interest was not affected in any way by Towne's foreclosure action. Following *Fulbright*, we conclude that DCR is not a proper redemptioner under former RCW 6.23.010 because DCR did not have a lien extinguished by the foreclosure sale.

Towne, slip op. at p. 6. At the heart of the Court of Appeals' decision are these erroneous assumptions:

- (1) A "foreclosure sale" means the sheriff's auction,
- (2) The only interests extinguished by the foreclosure are those that existed at the time of the auction, and
- (3) After the auction, the judgment debtor retains no interest in the foreclosed property to which a lien could attach.

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' faulty premise is that the Supreme Court has now held that a judgment debtor's interest in foreclosed real property is extinguished as of the sheriff's auction. The wording *Fulbright* used, borrowed from Professor Rombauer's treatise in *Washington Practice*, led the Court of Appeals to its faulty premise. That premise leads directly and

logically to the overthrow of over a century of case law and the resurrection of the repudiated rule of *Hardy v. Herriott*, 11 Wash. 460, 39 P. 958 (1895). Accepting review of this case would provide an opportunity to clarify what the court meant in *Fulbright* and correct the mis-impression it caused, and prevent other courts from mistakenly applying the law.

The problematic wording is in the chronological sequence implied:

Generally, statutory redemption arises when a senior lienholder forecloses on the property, thereby extinguishing any junior liens. After the foreclosure sale, statutory redemption gives junior lienholders a grace period beyond the sale

Fulbright, 180 Wn.2d at _____. This gives the impression that the foreclosure sale is the sheriff's auction, and that it forecloses the judgment debtor's and lienholders' interest in the property, and all that they have left is their statutory redemption rights. That impression was so strong on Division I that it felt bound to follow it as precedent in an unpublished decision.

Division II noticed the wording problem in 2002 case and it avoided using similar language. *Capital Investment Corp. of Washington vs. King County*, 112 Wn.App. 216, 230, n.37, 47 P.3d 161 (2002) . If carried to its logical conclusion, this mis-impression leads back to the rule this court repudiated in *Hardy v. Herriott*, 11 Wash. 460, 39 P. 958 (1895).

1. The rule Division I has applied was repudiated by this Court in *Hays v. Merchants' Bank*, 10 Wash. 573, 577, 39 P. 98 (1895), rehrg. 14 Wash. 192, 193, 44 P. 137 (1896).

Hardy v. Herriott, *supra*, addressed whether a redemptioner was entitled to a credit for the purchaser's rents and profits during the redemption period, a subject the redemption statutes did not then address. The *Hardy* court held that after the sheriff's auction the judgment debtor's interest was purely personal property:

It follows that in this state the title of the mortgagor upon foreclosure sale, like the title of the judgment debtor upon execution sale, becomes extinguished, and all that remains to him is the right to redeem, which is wholly statutory.

Hardy v. Herriott, 11 Wash. 460, 462, 39 P. 958 (1895). This rule is entirely consistent with, and the logical conclusion of, the reasoning employed by Division I in this case. However, within six months after *Hardy* was decided, apparently stung by criticism, this court distanced itself from the rule announced in that case.

...[T]here has been a good deal said as to the announcement in *Hardy v. Herriott* of the doctrine that the title of the judgment debtor became extinguished by the sale of the land, and that all that was left to him was the equitable right to redeem, and that the purchaser at such sale acquired the full legal title the decision of that technical question was not necessary to the decision of the real question involved in *Hardy v. Herriott*.

Knipe v. Austin, 13 Wash. 189, 193, 43 P. 25 (1895). It was particularly awkward that just two months prior to *Hardy*, the Court had announced the opposite rule, namely:

A judgment debtor, until after the expiration of the time to redeem real estate sold on execution, is the holder of the legal title, and must in all respects be treated as the owner of the land.

Hays v. Merchants' Bank, 10 Wash. 573, 577, 39 P. 98 (1895). On the rehearing of *Hays*, the court openly repudiated the principle announced in *Hardy v. Herriott* and affirmed its earlier decision. *Hays v. Merchants' Bank*, 14 Wash. 192, 193, 44 P. 137 (1896).

2. *Hays v. Merchants' Bank* was followed by a long string of cases reiterating its holding.

These cases include *Singly v. Warren*, 18 Wash. 434, 444-45, 51 P. 1066 (1898) ("A certificate of sale executed by a sheriff does not pass title. At most, it is only evidence of an inchoate estate . . . [the purchaser] cannot be said to hold the title until he receives a deed in pursuance of the sale"); *De Roberts v. Stiles*, 24 Wash. 611, 618, 64 P. 795 (1901) ("A certificate of sale executed by a sheriff does not pass title."). *Cochran v. Cochran*, 114 Wash. 499, 503, 195 P. 224 (1921) ("It has become the well-settled law of this state that. . . the mortgagor is not by such [foreclosure] sale divested of his title to the land prior to the expiration of the redemption period, and can even then be divested of his title only upon his failure to redeem during that period."); *Ford v. Nokomis State Bank*, 135 Wash. 37,45,237 P. 314 (1925) (" ... [I]n this state we have consistently held ... that a certificate of sale executed by a sheriff does not vest title ... "); *Carroll v. Hill Tract Imp. Co.*, 44 Wash. 569, 574, 87 P. 835 (1906) ("Pending the redemption period, the

certificate of sale did not pass title ... "); *W.T. Watts, Inc. v. Sherrer*, 89 Wn.2d 245, 248, 571 P.2d 203 (1977) (noting that the sheriff's certificate of purchase does not pass title to the purchaser and that a mechanic's lien for work done on the property for the sheriff's sale purchaser did not attach to the judgment debtor's fee interest in the property); and *Fidelity Mutual Savings Bank v. Mark*, 112 Wn.2d 47, 52, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989) ("A judgment debtor-mortgagor retains legal title to the property during the redemption period.")

3. Hays v. Merchants' Bank relied upon two cases upholding the right to redeem of lien creditors whose liens attached after the sheriff's auction during the redemption period.

In its initial decision, 10 Wash. at 577, the *Hays* Court supported its core holding by citing to *Curtis v. Millard* and *McMillan v. Richards*. In *Curtis v. Millard*, 14 Iowa 128, 130 (1862), the Iowa Supreme Court held:

If, during the interim between the date of the sale and the delivery of the sheriff's deed to the purchaser, other judgments are rendered against the debtor, it has been repeatedly held that they attach as liens upon the debtor's interest, which is one of real value, consisting not only of the legal estate, rents and profits, but the consequent right to discharge the lien and make his estate absolute.

And in *McMillan v. Richards*, 9 Cal. 365, 412-13 (1858), the California Supreme Court, citing the same New York cases as *Curtis*, stated:

There is no difference, so far as the liens of the judgments are concerned, between our statute and that of New York. Here the statute requires the lien by the judgment of the creditor to be subsequent to that on which the property is sold; there the statute requires the judgment which creates the lien to be recovered before

the expiration of the time of the redemption. The period within which the judgment creating the lien must be recovered is not limited in either case by the sale.

McMillan v. Richards, 9 Cal. 365, 412-13 (1858).³

Hays, 10 Wash. at 577, also relied upon Abraham Freeman's treatise on Executions. That treatise states that it is the rule that a redemption is valid even if it is based upon a judgment confessed during the redemption period for the purpose of creating a right to redeem.

"It is ... immaterial whether the judgment ... was confessed for the purpose of creating a right to redeem after the sale was made."

Freeman, Abraham Clark, *A Treatise on the Law of Executions in Civil Cases*, § 317 (3rd ed. 1900). *Accord*, Rorer, David, *A Treatise on the Law of Judicial and Execution Sales*, § 1116 (1878) "The right of judgment creditors to redeem lands of their debtors from execution sales, when given by law, applies alike to creditors whose judgments are rendered before or

³ This holding of *McMillan* was affirmed by the California Supreme Court in *Salsbery v. Ritter*, 48 Cal.2d 1, 9, 306 P.2d 897 (1957) ("[Plaintiffs] urge that since the Ritter-Holland judgment was not obtained until after the sale of the property on execution, Ritter and Holland acquired no lien and were not eligible to redeem the property. This contention is without merit." See also Darryl A. Hart, Comment, *The Statutory Right of Redemption in California*, 52 Calif. L.Rev. 846, 859 (1964). Both *Salsbery* and the Hart Comment were relied upon for other points by *Millay v. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 200, 955 P.2d 791 (1998).

after the sale."

4. Cases from other states support the right to redeem of a post-auction lien creditor.

The North Dakota case of *The North Dakota Horse & Cattle Company v. Serumgard*, 17 N.D. 466, 117 N.W. 453 (1908), is directly on point and involved a redemption statute identical to Washington's statute. In *Serumgard*, the foreclosed mortgagor granted a mortgage after the sheriff's auction but before the expiration of the redemption period. The court, after a detailed review of the authorities, held that "a party seeking to redeem by virtue of holding a subsequent lien need only hold a lien at the time he seeks to redeem." *The North Dakota Horse & Cattle Company v. Serumgard*, 17 N.D. 466, 494, 117 N.W. 453 (1908).

The court noted that the sheriff's sale purchaser does not acquire the defendant's title to the land until the expiration of the time for redemption and the execution and delivery of the sheriff's deed. *The North Dakota Horse & Cattle Company v. Serumgard*, 17 N.D. 466, 485, 489, 117 N.W. 453 (1908). The court concluded that "[i]t is plain that during the time allowed by law for redemption the debtor possesses such an interest in the real property sold as will support a mortgage thereon," and "the right to redeem is coincident with the right or power to mortgage, when by the terms of the statute subsequent mortgagees are included among

redemptioners" *The North Dakota Horse & Cattle Company v. Serumgard*, 17 N.D. 466, 481, 117 N.W. 453 (1908). A post-auction mortgagee is a redemptioner.

The Minnesota case of *Bovey v. De Laittre Lumber Co.*, 48 Minn. 223, 50 N.W. 1038 (1892), was an action to foreclose a mechanic's lien. The judgment debtor, after the sale, and on the last day to redeem, executed a mortgage for \$2 on the foreclosed property. The court held that the mortgagee, Pearse, had the right to redeem, stating:

So long as the owner had a conveyable interest he could mortgage it. In case of a sale subject to right of redemption the owner has a conveyable interest till it is cut off by expiration of the time allowed him to redeem. The mortgage to Pearse was executed within that time, and was therefore valid.

Bovey v. De Laittre Lumber Co., 48 Minn. 223, 50 N.W. 1038, 1039 (1892).

In the Indiana case of *Hervey v. Krost*, 116 Ind. 268, 271, 19 N.E. 125 (1888), the court held that "a mortgagee, although his mortgage may have been executed after the sale, has the right of redemption secured to him, provided his mortgage shall have been duly recorded within the year for redemption."

In the Alabama case of *Couthaway v. Berghaus*, 25 Ala. 393 (1854), citing *Pollard v. Taylor*, 13 Ala. 604 (1848), the court held that a judgment obtained after the sheriff's auction, but before the expiration of the time for redeeming, was sufficient to authorize the judgment creditor to

redeem.

And in the Illinois case of *Becker v. Friend*, 200 Ill. 75, 80-81, 65 N.E. 683 (1902), after a judicial sale but during the redemption period, the judgment debtor confessed a judgment expressly for the purpose of enabling the judgment creditor to redeem. The court held that the redemption was valid, finding there is a bona fide indebtedness existing and due to such creditor. Becker relied upon *Arnold v. Gifford*, 62 Ill. 249, 252 (1871), which stood for the same proposition.

Against all of these authorities, petitioner can find no case or treatise supporting the Court of Appeals' decision except *BAC Home Loans v. Fulbright*.

5. The confusion from Fulbright can be dispelled by a consideration of when the "foreclosure sale" process ends.

The trouble is that the courts and our own statutes sometimes refer to the foreclosure or sale as if it were a particular event, i.e. the sheriff's auction. At other times, it appears that what is meant is that a foreclosure or a sale is a process that only ends when the sheriff's deed is given. The problem is well stated by the North Dakota Supreme Court:

The principal difficulty in the matter is to determine what constitutes a sale, or when the sale becomes an act fully completed. Is it when the sheriff or other proper person offers the premises at public auction and knocks them down to the highest bidder? Or not until the time for redemption expires and the purchaser obtains a deed in

pursuance of the provisions of the statute?

The North Dakota Horse & Cattle Company v. Serumgard, 17 N.D. 466, 484, 117 N.W. 453 (1908). *Serumgard* concluded that the sale must be completed to have its extinguishing effect.

Professor Rombauer's treatise in *Washington Practice* is a good example of the source of the confusion. In § 3.19, her reference to foreclosure makes one think she understands the foreclosure sale to mean the sheriff's auction. Yet, in the same section, she also observes that "title does not transfer until the sheriff's deed is issued." 27 Marjorie Dick Rombauer, *Washington Practice: Creditors' Remedies —Debtors' Relief* § 3.19(h), at 169 (1998). And she earlier makes it clear that she thinks a foreclosure is not completed until the sheriff's deed is delivered.

Once the sheriff's deed has been delivered to the purchaser, the mortgage foreclosure process has been completed.

27 Marjorie Dick Rombauer, *Washington Practice: Creditors' Remedies — Debtors' Relief* § 3.15, at 157 (1998). Reading all of this together, one should reach the conclusion that parties' rights are extinguished when the foreclosure sale is completed by execution and delivery of the sheriff's deed. But the wording of *Fulbright* makes it difficult to reach that point since it refers to the extinguishment of rights as something that happens at the beginning of the redemption period.

This court's other decisions make it clear that the sheriff's auction

is not the end of the process, but the beginning. The highest bid at the sheriff's auction is an offer, and acceptance of the offer occurs when the court confirms the sale, and at that point a contract of sale is formed. *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 56, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998); *In re Spokane Sav. Bank*, 198 Wash. 665, 672, 89 P.2d 802 (1939). But it is not fully performed until the sheriff's deed is executed, an act which, although it does not require a court order, is essential to complete the sale. *Hazel v. Van Beek*, 135 Wn.2d 45, 56, 954 P.2d 1301 (1998).

Other courts agree that the foreclosure or sale process is not complete until the sheriff's deed is issued. *Reynolds v. London & Lancashire Fire Ins. Co.*, 128 Cal. 16, 21 60 P. 467 (1900) ("[A] foreclosure, in the sense of a perfect extinguishment of the mortgagor's equity of redemption, may be said not to be complete until after the expiration of the statutory period for redemption."). The mortgage foreclosure process is consummated by the sheriff's deed *McMillan v. Richards*, 9 Cal. 365, 412, 70 Am. Dec. 655, (1858) ("... [T]he estate must remain in the mortgagor until a consummation of the sale by conveyance."); *Flanders v. Aumack*, 32 Or. 19, 26, 51 P. 447 (1897) (execution and delivery of the sheriff's deed described as the consummation of the execution); *Kaston v. Storey*, 47 Or. 150, 80 P. 217 (1905) ("There is no sale, in the legal sense, under a judgment or decree until the title passes.").

6. Since a judgment debtor can convey his interest in foreclosed property during the redemption period, he can mortgage it.

This court has acknowledged that describing the interests of the parties during the redemption process is "surrounded by difficulties" because these are statutory, and not court-made, rights. *Hays v. Merchants' Bank*, 14 Wash. 192, 194-5, 44 P. 137 (1896). But as the Oregon Supreme Court has said, "[d]uring the interim between the sale and the deed the rights of the parties interested are measured by the statute. *Flanders v. Aumack*, 32 Ore. 19, 51 P. 447 (1897).

This court has described the judgment debtor's interest in the property during the redemption period as a fee interest, *W. T. Watts, Inc. v. Sherrer*, 89 Wn.2d 245, 249, 252, 571 P.2d 203 (1977) and as a reversionary interest. *Fidelity Mutual Savings Bank v. Mark*, 112 Wn.2d 47, 53, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989). In the latter case, this court held that a judgment debtor can convey his interest in the foreclosed property and thereby convey his right to redeem. *Fidelity Mutual Savings Bank v. Mark*, 112 Wn.2d 47, 53, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989).

What can be conveyed can be mortgaged. Either would support a mortgage.

Every kind of interest in real estate may be mortgaged if it be subject to sale and assignment. It does not matter that it is a right in remainder or reversion, a contingent interest, or a possibility coupled with an interest.

1 L. Jones, Law of Mortgages of Real Property, § 190, p. 222 (8th ed. 1928); RCW 64.04.010 ("A mortgage is created in the same manner as a deed.")

C. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

In *Capital Investment Corp. of Washington vs. King County*, 112 Wn.App. 216, 47 P.3d 161 (2002), Division II, applying *Fidelity Mutual Bank v. Mark*, held that "a redemptioner by judgment lien may not transfer a right to redeem without also transferring the underlying judgment." This decision makes little sense if the transferred judgment has been extinguished. If the judgment has been extinguished, there is nothing to assign. Division II was aware of this difficulty and carefully explained that the junior judgment lien would not be extinguished except by the expiration of the redemption period or a redemption by the judgment debtor.

After the sheriff's sale, JEA had a judgment lien that would terminate when a redemptioner junior to JEA or the judgment debtor redeemed from JEA, or the time to redeem expired, whichever occurred first, unless the judgment debtor redeemed (and terminated the effect of the sale) while JEA still had its right to redeem.

Capital Investment Corp. of Washington vs. King County, 112 Wn.App. 216, 47 P.3d 161 (2002). Division II explained its careful wording in a footnote that pointed to the type of wording in *Millay v. Cam* that the Supreme Court also used in *Fulbright*.

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