### NO. 70604-7-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE F THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

0-020-0

TOWNE OWNERS ASSOCIATION, Plaintiff,

v.

BRIAN D. BECKMANN, et al., Defendants

DCR SERVICES, LLC, Third-Party Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

THE CONDO GROUP, LLC, et al., Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT The Honorable Monica Benton, Case No. 11-2-08939-8 SEA

#### ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jordan M. Hecker WSBA #14374 HECKER WAKEFIELD & FEILBERG, P.S. 321 First Avenue West Seattle, WA 98119

Phone: (206) 447-1900 Fax: (206) 447-9075

Attorney For Third-Party Defendant/Respondent

The Condo Group LLC



### **

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

### VI. ARGUMENT

- A. The Court Should Not Accept This Appeal.
- 1. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied The Supreme Court Decision In *BAC Home Loans vs. Fulbright*.

There is no dispute that at the time of the Sale, Glacier's predecessor did not own a lien interest. CP 78-79. Thus, the foreclosure could not and did not eliminate any rights held by Glacier's predecessor.

The Supreme Court has often recognized that the right of redemption is available only to those parties extinguished by the Foreclosure Sale. *Millay vs. Cam*, 135 Wn.2d 193, 198 955 P.2d 791 (1998). *Millay vs. Cam* specifically provides:

When a mortgage is foreclosed and the property sold under execution, junior lien creditors whose liens have been extinguished by the sale have the statutory right to redeem the property from the purchaser. (Emphasis added).

Millay vs. Cam, 135 Wn.2d supra at 198; Accord DeYoung vs. Cenex Ltd., 100 Wash.App. 885 at 895, 1 P.3d 587 (2000).

The rationale behind this rule is clear and straightforward. It provides junior lienholders an opportunity to salvage their interest in the event that the liens have been extinguished by foreclosure. *Summerhill* 

Village Homeowners Association vs. Roughley, 289 P.3d 645 at 648 (2012) (correcting and superseding 166 Wash.App. 625).

In other words, if a subsequent lienholder in Glacier's position, post foreclosure, decides to purchase a tenuous interest, it has that right. However, there is no need to protect an entity placing itself voluntarily in harm's way by providing it the right of redemption. The Court of Appeals properly recognized the rule established by *BAC Home Loans vs. Fulbright* and its predecessors.

# 2. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict With Prior Decisions Of The Supreme Court.

As seen above, the Court of Appeals decision focused solely on the rights of redemptioner for voluntary liens created after the time of the Foreclosure Sale. The Court of Appeals did not even address the particular rights or abilities of the Judgment Debtor to create additional liens.

Despite this fact, Glacier argues that the Court of Appeals somehow "... [G]ives the impression that the foreclosure sale is the sheriff's auction, and that it forecloses the judgment debtor's and lienholder's interest in the property, and all they have left is their statutory redemption rights." See Glacier Brief, Pg. 6. Somehow, this interpretation leads the Court to a repudiation of the decision in *Hardy vs.* 

Herriott, 11 Wash. 460, 39 Pac. 958 (1895). However, there is absolutely no logical link between the Court's decision and its so-called repudiation of the prior case. The argument that the Hardy vs. Herriott case was actually repudiated should be rejected. See Knipe vs. Austin, 13 Wash. 189, 43 Pac. 25 (1895). The case cited by Glacier to establish the Hardy vs. Herriott repudiation specifically provides:

But after renewed examination of the authorities and of the statute, enlighted by an earnest and intelligent discussion, we are unable to find any escape from the conclusions reached in *Hardy vs. Herriott*. (Emphasis added).

Knipe vs. Austin, 13 Wash. at 189.

Ultimately, there is absolutely no explanation for Glacier's claims that the Court made any assumptions regarding the nature of its lien or the actual interest to which it attached. *See* Glacier's Brief, Pg. 5. No assumptions were necessary. The Court of Appeals merely followed longstanding law by precluding redemption for those whose rights were not eliminated by the foreclosure.

3. <u>Out-Of-State Cases Addressing This Issue Are Distinguishable.</u>

Glacier's attempt to rely on out-of-state cases is misplaced. Those cases are distinguishable.

One line of cases involve judgments taken against the debtor. *See Curtis vs. Millard*, 14 Iowa 128 (1862); *see also McMillan vs. Richards*, 9 Cal. 365 (1858). Unlike those cases, this matter does not involve a subsequent judgment based on established obligations. In this case, the alleged lien was voluntarily created. This loan was merely an attempt to transfer the "naked" right to redeem.

Likewise, other cases relied upon by Glacier give no indication that the loan transaction at issue was a sham. Actual loans were made with recourse to property not already owned by the so-called lender. *See, e.g., Bovey vs. DeLaittre Lumber Co.,* 48 Minn. 223, 50 N.W. 1038 (1892). As indicated in Glacier's briefing, the Court in *Bovey*, clearly indicated that a mortgage could be granted as long as the Judgment Debtor owned the property. In this case, the debtor had transferred the property along with the loan.

The California cases cited by Glacier involved redemptioners who were attempting to exercise rights obtained through the grant of Deeds by the Judgment Debtor. E.g. *Phillips vs. Hagart*, 113 Cal. 552, 45 Pac. 843, 896; *See also Fry vs. Bihr*. 6 Cal.App. 3d, 248, 85 Cal. Rptr. 742 (1970). In fact, these California cases are more in line with Washington law prohibiting the transfer of a Judgment Debtor's rights solely for purposes

of transferring the "naked" assignment of the right to redemption. *Fidelity Mutual Savings Bank vs. Mark*, 112 Wn.2d 47 at 52, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989).

Glacier's argument may have been more appropriate if it had actually attempted to redeem the Judgment Debtor's ownership interest, rather than solely by redeeming pursuant to a suspect lien. The California cases cited above support this position.

# 4. The Interest Of The Judgment Debtor In This Case Is Irrelevant.

Glacier also seems to argue that because the Judgment Debtor could convey its interest, it has the right to mortgage the interest. *See* Petition For Review, Pgs. 16-17. However, Glacier fails in any way, shape or form to define the nature of the Judgment Debtor's post-foreclosure interest or what has actually been conveyed. Certainly, nothing within the statute creates the type of interest which allows the Judgment Debtor to unconditionally create a Deed of Trust after the Foreclosure Sale to allow for redemption. RCW 6.23, *et seq.* In terms of time, taken to its logical conclusion, Glacier's position would allow a Judgment Debtor to create a lien allowing for redemption even after the redemption period has ended. This result is absurd.

Ultimately, as seen above, a Judgment Debtor cannot create or grant more rights than it owns. *Singly vs. Warren*, 18 Wash. 434 supra at 434-437. *See also Sofie vs. Kang*, 32 Wash.App. 889, 895, 650 P.2d 1124 (1892). Thus, if a redemption takes place by the Judgment Debtor, the lien on the Judgment Debtor's property is worthless. For the lien to have any value whatsoever, there must be a redemption prior to execution on the lien. Otherwise, no rights have been granted.

### B. This Decision Does Not Conflict With Other Decisions On The Court Of Appeals.

Glacier also argues that the Court of Appeals decision contradicts other decisions in different divisions of the Court of Appeals. *See* Glacier's Petition, Pgs. 17-18, citing *Capital Investment Corp. of Washington vs. King County*, 112 Wash.App. 216, 47 P.3d 161 (2002). In fact, the *Capital Investment Corp.* decision provides another basis upon which the Court of Appeals may be affirmed. As seen above, the underlying transaction by Glacier's predecessor was nothing more than a transfer of a "naked" right of redemption. This transaction involved a non-recourse loan on property already owned by Glacier's predecessor. Thus, there was no real loan.

The parties merely attempted to assign a "naked" redemption right.

Those naked rights of redemption are prohibited. *Fidelity Mutual Savings* 

Bank vs. Mark, 112 Wn.2d. 47 at 53, 767 P.2d 1382 (1989). The case relied upon by Glacier highlights this prohibition:

According to all five of these cases, the right to redeem cannot be severed from the interest that underlies it and neither a judgment debtor nor a redemptioner can effectively transfer "the naked right to redeem" without also transferring the interest that underlies such right ...

Capital Investment Corp. of Washington, 216 supra at 228.

As seen above, in an attempt to avoid the rights of other creditors whose interest would reattach if the debtor was the actual redemptioner, Glacier's predecessor created a naked right of redemption upon which it attempted to redeem the property. The mere assignment of this debtor's lien constitutes a naked assignment of a redemption right. *Capital Investment Corp. of Washington vs. King County*, 112 Wash.App. 216 supra at 229. As in *Capital Investment Corp*, this Court should reject the attempt by a party to merely allow speculation in the avoidance of sale to the purchase of redemption rights for a nominal price. *Id.* at 228, 229.

In other words, Glacier is attempting to redeem a right severed from the ownership interest. This attempt has been specifically rejected by the Division II Court of Appeals upon which Glacier is attempting to rely.

Therefore, we agree with the trial court that our statutory scheme does not permit the right of redemption to be severed from the property interest it serves. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals recognized this situation.

## C. Public Interest Should Prohibit Glacier's Right To Redeem.

Allowing Glacier the right to redeem would defeat the public policy regarding the "maintenance of civility of land titles, either by rule or decision or by statute, is highly desirable". *Graves vs. Elliott*, 69 Wn.2d 652 (1966) (overruled on other grounds by *GESA Federal Credit Union vs. Mutual Life Insurance of New York*, 105 Wn.2d 248, 713 P.2d 728 (1986). To allow this Deed of Trust to create a right of redemption would create uncertainty as to whom could potentially redeem property purchased at a Sheriff's Sale and cloud title for years. Under Glacier's approach, any party could potentially "swoop in" and obtain title to the property by purchasing redemption rights during the redemption period. The result would be uncertainly well beyond the one-year period beyond the Sheriff's Sale. Redemption adds another 60 days to the right to redeem thereafter. RCW 6.23.040(1).

Ultimately, the Judgment Debtor could create unlimited post-sale Deeds of Trust under which each successive Deed of Trust holder could redeem the property. Title to the property would remain in chaos for years. RCW 6.23.040(1).

Moreover, instead of benefitting Judgment Debtors or their creditors, allowing redemption of this nature would stifle and not increase possible bid prices. The number of bidders available to bid would be driven down if the Judgment Debtor could create additional redemptioners at its whim and caprice. Purchasers would be less willing to buy property which could be immediately encumbered with additional liens after the Foreclosure Sale. At the very least, bids would be reduced if rights were created and littered with unexpected lien rights.

### VII. CONCLUSION

This Court should reject Petitioner's Request For Review. The Court of Appeals decision did not conflict with any Supreme Court ruling or other decisions in other Court of Appeals divisions. Likewise, there is no confusion. Indeed, even if the Petition For Review is granted, there are alternative bases upon which to confirm the Court of Appeals.